# **Bylaws**

#### College of Journalism and Mass Communications Bylaws

# Updated March 11, 2022

# I. Mission and Vision

1. We nurture curious and creative minds to thrive in the ever-changing media and communication professions. As a national leader in experiential journalism and mass communications education, our inclusive "do from day one" experience is rooted in hard work, collaborative problem-solving, and the ethical pursuit of truth to uphold democracy.

# II. Organization and Administration of the College

- 1. The College of Journalism and Mass Communications is organized as follows:
  - 1. The college administration, which consists of the dean, any associate or assistant deans, and any directors or chairs.
  - 2. The college faculty, which consists of individuals who hold faculty rank in the college.
  - 3. The managerial and professional staff and the office and service staff of the college.
- 2. The College of Journalism and Mass Communications is administered through a system of shared governance between the college administration and the college faculty. In developing policy and procedures and in administering the college, the administration and the faculty may consult with students, alumni of the college, and members of the mass communications industry, when appropriate.
- 3. Meetings of the college faculty
  - 1. A college faculty meeting may be called by the dean or in response to a petition signed by a majority of the college faculty.
  - 2. Two-thirds of the college faculty will constitute a quorum. A two-thirds majority of those in attendance will be required to pass a motion.
  - 3. The chair of the meeting will invoke Robert's Rules of Order.
- 4. College of Journalism and Mass Communications Administration
  - 1. Dean of the College of Journalism and Mass Communications
    - 1. The dean is the officer primarily charged with the administration of the college. The dean is the presiding officer of the college faculty and the chief adviser to the chancellor in regard to the college's welfare and shall be in general charge, under the chancellor, of the administrative work of the college. The dean shall submit recommendations to the Office of the Chancellor concerning the appointment, reappointment, non-reappointment, promotion, granting of continuous appointment, demotion, transfer, dismissal, or removal of members of the college faculty and staff. All requisitions chargeable to funds apportioned to the college are subject to approval by the dean or the dean's designee. (See Bylaws of the Board of Regents 2.9.1.)
    - 2. In preparing budgetary recommendations or in recommending the appointment, reappointment, non-reappointment, promotion, granting of continuous appointment, demotion, transfer, dismissal, or removal of members of the college faculty, the dean shall consult with the relevant subset of the college faculty as described in the college policies and procedures. If the recommendation of the faculty differs from the dean's recommendation, the dean shall so inform the

#### chancellor. (See **Bylaws of the Board of Regents 2.9.2.**)

- 3. The dean shall administer the college in accordance with the bylaws of the Board of Regents, the University of Nebraska-Lincoln, and the College of Journalism and Mass Communications.
- 4. The dean shall administer the college in accordance with the rules and procedures of the college faculty.
- 5. The dean shall appoint college faculty members to serve as associate or assistant deans, directors, or chairs as necessary to administer the programs of the college.
- 6. Except for the Executive Committee, which shall be elected, the dean shall appoint committees in the manner described in the college policies and procedures to provide information and advice on issues confronting the college.
- 2. Associate or assistant deans, directors, or chairs.
  - 1. Any associate or assistant deans, directors or chairs appointed by the dean shall have such duties, responsibilities, and authority as the dean may assign to them, and they shall be evaluated by the faculty in the manner described in the college policies and procedures.

#### III. Authority of the College of Journalism and Mass Communications

- 1. The college faculty shall be the primary policy-setting body. The faculty may establish policies, rules, and procedures governing all aspects of the academic programs of the college and may advise the college administration on any other matter. Such policies, rules and procedures shall be published and generally available to the faculty and other interested persons. All policies, rules, and procedures of the college faculty shall take effect on their adoption unless otherwise stated. The faculty may establish standing and temporary committees, in addition to those created by these bylaws, and delegate to them such authority as it deems appropriate.
- 2. Faculty membership. The college faculty shall consist of those who hold a full-time faculty position within the college at the faculty rank of assistant professor, associate professor, or professor; assistant or associate professor of practice or professor of practice; assistant or associate research professor or research professor; lecturer or senior lecturer. The college faculty shall include any member of the college administration who holds faculty rank in the college.
- 3. Organization. The College of Journalism and Mass Communications faculty shall be organized as follows:
  - 1. The voting faculty of the college shall include all members of the college faculty and those granted voting privileges under the terms of the rules and procedures of the college.
  - 2. College faculty voting privileges will not be granted to those holding courtesy appointments or emeritus rank or with a full-time equivalent (FTE) of less than 1.0.
  - 3. The graduate faculty of the college shall consist of all college faculty who have been designated graduate faculty by UNL Graduate Studies.
  - 4. Committees. The college committees shall consist of the Executive Committee, and such other committees as may be created by the faculty or the dean. The faculty shall elect members to serve on the Executive Committee. For all other committees, the faculty shall determine the method of appointment of members. The faculty members of all committees shall be elected or appointed at a time prescribed in the college policies and procedures and shall serve for one year. If a faculty member is unable to serve a full term on the Executive Committee, an interim member shall be elected by the faculty in a manner to be determined by the faculty. If a faculty member is unable to serve a full

term on any other committee, the dean shall appoint an interim member.

- 1. The Executive Committee of the college shall consist of the dean, any associate or assistant deans, any directors or chairs, the business and operations manager, at least one member of college faculty representing each major in the college, and at least one staff member. In the event, no faculty of practice is elected by a major, the faculty of practice shall meet and elect one of their members to serve on the Executive Committee. In the event no tenured or tenure-track faculty member is elected by a major, the tenured and tenure-track faculty shall elect one of their members to serve on the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee of the college shall be advisory to the dean in regard to all administrative matters as well as to the college faculty.
- 2. The number of other standing committees of the college, their duties, the number of members of the committees and the manner of their selections shall be described in the policies and procedures of the college, subject to approval by the faculty.
- 4. Promotion and tenure policies
  - 1. All college faculty shall be reviewed annually in compliance with <u>Board of Regents</u> and <u>university bylaws</u>. All faculty on tenure track shall be reviewed annually by tenured faculty or a committee thereof to assess their progress toward tenure. All faculty who have not been fully promoted shall be reviewed every third year by the fully promoted faculty or a committee thereof to assess their progress toward full promoted faculty or a committee thereof to assess their progress toward full promoted.
  - 2. The college faculty shall adopt criteria and procedures for the promotion of faculty members and the awarding of continuous appointment. Such criteria shall govern the recommendation of members of the college faculty for promotion and continuous appointment. Such criteria and procedures shall be consistent with the <u>campus</u> guidelines and with other university provisions governing the awarding of promotion and tenure.
  - 3. The college faculty shall adopt criteria and procedures for the promotion of faculty of practice and research faculty. Such criteria shall govern the recommendations of members of the college faculty for the promotion of faculty of practice. Such rules shall be consistent with the campus guidelines and with other university provisions governing the awarding of promotion.
- 5. Apportionment of Faculty Responsibilities
  - Faculty members will be evaluated according to norms established for them related to the faculty's collective responsibility to teach, to advise, to engage in research and creative activity, to make research findings and new knowledge known through publication or equivalent demonstration, and to provide public and institutional service. The extent to which a faculty member's responsibilities emphasize one or more parts of the university's mission will vary with the individual. Criteria against which individual faculty members are judged must reflect these varying assignments.
  - 2. The college dean or other university official responsible for hiring shall specify in the initial appointment letter the faculty member's apportionment of teaching, research, service, extension, and administrative responsibilities. The faculty member's general apportionment of responsibilities shall be reviewed periodically and may be modified through mutual agreement or through a decision of a faculty committee as set forth in Regents Bylaws 4.3(b)(2). Within the terms of this general apportionment of responsibilities, the details of the faculty member's specific assigned duties shall be determined, after consultation with the faculty member, by the administrator or director concerned, consistent with the requirements of Regents Bylaws 3.4.4. While the faculty member's duties may vary from semester to semester, the assigned duties must be consistent with the faculty member's overall areas of professional competence and

expertise and must not violate the principles of academic responsibility or freedom. The criteria used in determining the faculty member's duties should reflect the discipline and mission of the academic unit, should be applied in a manner that is equitable to all faculty members, and should be delineated in the initial appointment and thereafter reviewed in each annual evaluation.

- 3. These broad criteria in areas of teaching, research, and service should reflect the discipline and its mission. The refined criteria shall be applied to all faculty members in ways which equitably reflect each one's particular responsibilities and assignments. The criteria to be applied to a faculty member's own set of duties should be made clear at the time of appointment and reviewed in the annual evaluation.
- 4. Adjustments in the expectations for faculty members may occur over time in keeping with changing institutional and personal priorities. Such adjustments shall occur in a timely fashion and with reasonable effort made to assure mutual understanding.
- 5. In order to ensure consistent apportionment procedures in the College of Journalism and Mass Communications, apportionment of responsibilities for teaching, research or creative activity, and service shall follow the guidelines set forth in the policies and procedures approved by the faculty

#### **IV. Procedural Due Process for Academic Personnel**

- 1. In accordance with the principles of procedural due process, faculty members are entitled to oral or written notice and an opportunity to respond whenever they are facing a deprivation of a property interest. Faculty members hold a property interest in their employment with the University if they have a legitimate claim of entitlement to continued employment as opposed to a mere subjective expectancy. Accordingly, faculty members holding continuous appointments or appointments for a stated term (including special appointments for a stated term, appointments for a specific term, health professions faculty appointments, faculty practice appointments, and faculty research appointments) are deemed to have a property interest in their employment and, therefore, are entitled to procedural due process before their appointments may be terminated prematurely.
- 2. The process due to faculty members when being placed on administrative leave is defined within Regents Bylaws 4.7, when being subjected to potential sanctions or other remedial actions is defined within Regents Bylaws 4.7.5, when their continuous or stated term appointment is being terminated prematurely is defined within Regents Bylaws 4.15, or when being charged with professional misconduct is defined within Regents Bylaws 4.16.
- 3. Faculty members shall be notified in writing of the conclusions and assessments rendered based on their annual reviews and on their third-year review if they are not fully promoted. The faculty member may request a reconsideration and may submit additional responsive materials if they challenge or object to any of the rendered conclusions or assessments. If the conclusions or assessments are not modified upon reconsideration, the faculty member may submit written objections to the conclusions or assessments, which shall be retained with the applicable review in the faculty member's personnel file.
- 4. If a faculty member's application for a continuous appointment is denied at any step in the review process, the faculty member shall be informed in writing of the decision and provided the reasons for that decision. The faculty member will be afforded the opportunity at each such step to request reconsideration of the decision and to submit additional materials in response to the reasons provided.
- 5. Members of the professional staff may file written complaints with UNL's Academic Rights and Responsibilities Committee (ARRC) to address grievances that they may have against the University, including grievances arising out of actions that purportedly violate their academic freedom or tenure, wrongly accuse them of professional misconduct, seek to place them on administrative leave throughout the remaining duration of their stated term appointment, or seeks to prematurely terminate their continuous or stated term appointment.

#### V. Student Affairs

- 1. The college's Student Advisory Board is recognized as the student governance agency representing students. The board shall adopt a constitution to govern its affairs. Changes in the constitution shall become effective upon approval of the dean and the college faculty.
- 2. Student conduct relating to academic programs of the college is governed by the University of Nebraska-Lincoln Student Code of Conduct.
- 3. Pursuant to the <u>Bylaws of the Board of Regents (5.3)</u>, students shall be informed of the standards, objectives, and evaluation procedures at the beginning of each course. Each student shall be given a performance evaluation during the progress of the course if requested. The college shall provide for a faculty-student appeals committee for students who believe that evaluation of their academic progress has been prejudiced or capricious. Such procedure shall provide for changing a student's evaluation upon the committee's finding that an academic evaluation by a member of the faculty has been improper. The composition of the appeals committee and its procedures shall be established by the faculty and published in the college's policies and procedures.

# VI. Amendments and Interpretation

- 1. These bylaws may be amended only at a faculty meeting by a two-thirds vote of the college faculty.
- 2. Nothing in these bylaws shall be construed to be in conflict with any applicable law, Regents Bylaws or UNL Bylaws. Where anything in these bylaws conflicts with any bylaws or rules of the University of Nebraska-Lincoln or the University of Nebraska Board of Regents, the UNL or Regents Bylaws shall govern. These bylaws shall be interpreted to be consistent with the accreditation standards for the Accrediting Council on Education in Journalism and Mass Communications unless that interpretation should conflict with either UNL Bylaws or Regents Bylaws.

# VII. Effective Date

I. These bylaws shall be adopted by the College of Journalism and Mass Communications faculty and shall become effective upon their approval by the University of Nebraska Board of Regents.

# <u>Bylaws</u>

Adopted March 11, 2022

Adopted September 11, 1992

Amended January 7, 1994

- Amended March 4, 1994
- Amended April 23, 2004

Amended January 2006

Amended January 2010

Amended May 2011

Amended August 2013

Initial additions/changes proposed 9/09

Changes offered by advertising 10/09 Changes offered by journalism 0/29/09 Changes offered by advertising 11/20/09 Changes offered by executive committee 11/20/09 Changes offered at college faculty meeting 12/17/09 Changes offered at college faculty meeting 5/2/11 Changes offered at college faculty meeting 8/22/13